## Credit Rating Agencies: Internal Controls Designed to Ensure the Integrity of the Credit Rating Process and Procedures to Manage Conflicts of Interest

## **Final Report**



# THE BOARD OF THE INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION OF SECURITIES COMMISSIONS

FR12/12 December 2012

Copies of publications are available from:	
The International Organization of Securities Commissions Wearl All rights reserved	Reinf
© International Organization of Securities Commissions [Year]. All rights reserved excerpts may be reproduced or translated provided the source is stated.	. Биеј

## Contents

Chapter 1	Executive Summary	1
Chapter 2	Background	4
	vious work of IOSCO on CRAs	
2.2 The	e current project on internal controls and conflict procedures	5
2.3 Sco	ppe and purpose of the Final Report	
Chapter 3	Quality and Integrity of the Rating Process	8
3.1 Qua	ality of the rating process	
3.1.1	Overarching control functions within the CRA	
3.1.2	Preparatory phase – gathering and using information	
3.1.3	Assessment phase – use and consistency of methodologies	
3.1.4	Decision phase – rating committee structure and voting process	
3.1.5	Dissemination phase – release of rating actions	
3.2 Res	sources adequacy to ensure the quality of the rating process	16
3.2.1	Resources adequacy	
	a Resources adequacy – review function for new products	
3.2.1.	b Resources adequacy – periodic reviews of methodologies	18
3.2.1.	c Resources adequacy – structured finance initial ratings and surveillance	19
3.2.2	Continuity in the rating process and avoidance of bias	
3.3 Mo	nitoring and updating	20
3.3.1	Regular ratings reviews	
3.3.2	Ad hoc ratings reviews	
3.3.3	Timely updates of ratings	22
3.3.4	Comprehensive monitoring	
3.3.5	Disclosure of discontinued ratings	
3.4 Inte	egrity of the rating process	
3.4.1	Firms' compliance culture	
3.4.2	Role of compliance	
3.4.3	Reporting of questionable behaviour	
3.4.4	Staff ethics and integrity	26
3.4.5	No "guarantee" of ratings	26
3.4.6	Recordkeeping	
Chapter 4	Management of Conflicts of Interest Discussion	
	naging firm-level conflicts	28
4.1.1	Rating committees and reporting lines	29
4.1.2	Corporate and business structures	
4.1.3	Recordkeeping	30
4.1.4	Disclosure	
	naging employee-level conflicts	32
4.2.1	Compensation setting structures	
4.2.2	Analyst selection	
4.2.3	Outside employment and other business relationships	
4.2.4	Designing securities	
4.2.5	Trading securities and owning investments	
4.2.6	Gifts	
Chapter 5	Conclusion	38

## **Chapter 1 Executive Summary**

This Final Report results from a review by the International Organization of Securities Commissions' (IOSCO) Committee 6 on Credit Rating Agencies (C6), previously known as Standing Committee 6 (SC6), that focused on internal controls established by credit rating agencies (CRAs) to promote the integrity of the credit rating process and on procedures established by CRAs to manage conflicts of interest. The review was motivated by the role of CRAs in the 2008 financial crisis, which raised concerns about the quality of credit ratings and credit rating methodologies, the timeliness of adjustments to credit ratings, and, more generally, the integrity of the credit rating process. The 2008 financial crisis also raised concerns about how conflicts of interest are being managed by credit rating agencies.

For example, IOSCO noted in 2008 that the performance of CRAs in rating structured finance products raised questions about whether "credit ratings were based on incorrect information and faulty or dated models" and that "[m]any observers cite the conflicts of interest inherent in the credit rating industry as a source of concern." In addition, the staff of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission examined the activities of Fitch Ratings Ltd. (Fitch), Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (Moody's), and Standard & Poor's Rating Services (S&P) in rating subprime residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) and collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) linked to subprime RMBS. The staff made a number of observations, including that:

- There was a substantial increase in the total number and complexity of RMBS and CDO
  deals being rated and some of the rating agencies appear to have struggled with the
  growth;
- Policies and procedures for rating RMBS and CDOs could be better documented;
- The rating agencies did not always document significant steps in the rating process including the rationale for deviations from their models and for rating committee actions and decisions and they did not always document significant participants in the ratings process;
- The surveillance processes used by the rating agencies appear to have been less robust than the processes used for initial ratings;
- There were issues with the management of conflicts of interest; and
- The rating agencies' internal audit processes varied significantly.<sup>4</sup>

1

See The Role of Credit Rating Agencies in Structured Finance Markets, Final Report, Report of the IOSCO Technical Committee, May 2008, available at <a href="http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD270.pdf">http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD270.pdf</a> (IOSCO CRA Structured Finance Report); Also See Summary Report of Issues Identified in the Commission Staff's Examinations of Select Credit Rating Agencies, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (July 2008), available at <a href="http://www.sec.gov/news/studies/2008/craexamination070808.pdf">http://www.sec.gov/news/studies/2008/craexamination070808.pdf</a> (U.S. SEC 2008 Staff CRA Exam Report).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See U.S. SEC 2008 Staff CRA Exam Report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See IOSCO CRA Structured Finance Report.

See U.S. SEC 2008 Staff CRA Exam Report.

Despite the concerns and observations noted above, CRAs continue to play an important role in most modern capital markets.<sup>5</sup> Issuers and corporate borrowers rely on the opinions of CRAs to raise capital.<sup>6</sup> Lenders and investors use credit ratings in assessing the likely risks they face when lending money to or investing in securities of a particular entity.<sup>7</sup> Institutional investors and fiduciary investors, likewise, use credit ratings to help them allocate investments in a diversified risk portfolio.<sup>8</sup> Finally, laws and regulations use credit ratings to distinguish creditworthiness.<sup>9</sup>

The IOSCO Technical Committee (TC) published a consultation report in May 2012<sup>10</sup> (the Consultation Report), which summarized the internal controls and procedures established by CRAs to promote the integrity of the credit rating process and to address conflicts of interest, as identified by CRAs responding to C6's questionnaires on these topics. The Consultation Report was published to seek further comment from stakeholders, including further comment from CRAs, to better understand these internal controls and procedures.

This Final Report now summarizes the information received by C6 in response to its questionnaires and the Consultation Report. It provides a survey of the internal controls and conflicts procedures adopted by a diverse range of CRAs. CRAs vary significantly in size, and this report indicates that this variation in size results in differences in the policies and procedures adopted by CRAs to ensure the quality and integrity of the rating process, and to manage conflicts of interest. Despite the differences in size, all CRAs have adopted some form of policies and procedures to provide internal controls and safeguard against conflicts of interest.

Because this report is based on a desk-top review, it does not draw any conclusions about the operational efficacy of the CRAs' internal controls and conflict procedures. Therefore, it is not intended to prescribe recommended or mandatory standards for CRAs, nor make judgments about whether a particular internal control or procedure gives effect to a specific provision of the IOSCO CRA Code. 11 A particular control or procedure's effectiveness must

8 *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See IOSCO CRA Structured Finance Report.

See *Report on the Activities of Credit Rating Agencies*, The Technical Committee of IOSCO, September 2003, available at <a href="http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD153.pdf">http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD153.pdf</a> (Report on the Activities of CRAs).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.* 

See Stocktaking on the use of credit ratings, Joint Forum, June 2009, available at <a href="http://www.bis.org/publ/joint22.pdf">http://www.bis.org/publ/joint22.pdf</a>. The Financial Stability Board has promulgated a principle calling on standard setters and authorities to assess references to credit ratings in standards, laws and regulations and, wherever possible, to remove them or replace them by suitable alternative standards of creditworthiness. See Principles for Reducing Reliance on CRA Ratings, Financial Stability Board, October 2010, available at <a href="http://www.financialstabilityboard.org/publications/r">http://www.financialstabilityboard.org/publications/r</a> 101027.pdf.

See Credit Rating Agencies: Internal Controls Designed to Ensure the Integrity of the Credit Rating Process and Procedures to Manage Conflicts of Interest, Consultation Report, Report of the Technical Committee of IOSCO, May 2012, available at <a href="http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD380.pdf">http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD380.pdf</a>

See *Code of Conduct Fundamentals for Credit Rating Agencies*, Report of the Technical Committee of IOSCO, revised May 2008, available at <a href="http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD271.pdf">http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD271.pdf</a> (IOSCO CRA Code).

be considered in the context of its application, and to determine its success, it is necessary to engage in a more holistic assessment. The efficacy of a control or procedure may hinge on a number of other factors such as leadership, resources, expertise, and technology. Further, a given CRA's culture will play a significant role in the success of its controls and procedures, as even well-designed internal controls and procedures may not achieve their intended effect if the firm's culture does not embrace compliance. Further, a practice which is reasonable or rational for one CRA may not necessarily be so for another. Ultimately, it is the responsibility of the senior management and the governing body of a CRA to ensure that it has adequate resources to produce high-quality ratings, the governance of its rating process is sound, and its key risk controls to safeguard the integrity of the rating process and for managing conflicts of interest are operationally effective.

This Final Report nonetheless is intended to serve as a resource to increase public understanding of the internal workings of CRAs, and to allow CRAs to compare their internal controls and procedures with those of their peers. Also, by shedding light on the processes and controls certain CRAs utilize to ensure the integrity of the credit rating process and manage conflicts of interest, this report, in conjunction with disclosures that CRAs make about their controls and procedures, may help users of ratings draw their own conclusions about an individual CRA's controls and procedures and thereby help users make informed decisions with respect to their reliance on credit ratings.

Finally, given that the IOSCO CRA Code was last reviewed in the aftermath of the global financial crisis in 2008, IOSCO has initiated another review of the IOSCO CRA Code to ensure that it stays relevant as the international standard for CRAs' self-governance, and this report will help inform that work.

### Chapter 2 Background

#### 2.1 Previous work of IOSCO on CRAs

In September 2003, the TC published a set of principles with respect to CRAs, following the publication of the Report on the Activities of CRAs. The IOSCO CRA Principles are intended to be a useful tool for CRAs, regulators, and others wishing to improve how CRAs operate and how credit ratings are used by market participants. The IOSCO CRA Principles address four key objectives that are designed to promote informed, independent analyses and opinions by CRAs. This, in turn, is designed to promote the three core objectives of securities regulations identified by IOSCO: improving investor protection; ensuring that securities markets are fair, efficient and transparent; and reducing systemic risk. 14

The four objectives of the IOSCO CRA Principles are:

- Quality and integrity in the rating process CRAs should endeavor to issue opinions that help reduce the asymmetry of information among borrowers, lenders and other market participants;
- Independence and conflicts of interest CRA rating decisions should be independent and free from political or economic pressures and from conflicts of interest arising due to the CRA's ownership structure, business or financial activities, or the financial interests of the CRA employees. CRAs should, as far as possible, avoid activities, procedures or relationships that may compromise or appear to compromise the independence and objectivity of credit rating operations;
- Transparency and timeliness of ratings disclosure CRAs should make disclosure and transparency an objective of their ratings activities; and
- Confidential information CRAs should maintain in confidence all non-public information communicated to them by any issuer, or its agents, under terms of a confidentiality agreement or otherwise under a mutual understanding that the information is shared confidentially.

Following the publication of the IOSCO CRA Principles, the TC published a code of conduct for CRAs.<sup>15</sup> The IOSCO CRA Code provides guidance to CRAs on how the IOSCO CRA Principles could be implemented to: help guard against conflicts of interest; ensure credit rating methodologies are used consistently by employees; provide investors with sufficient information to judge the quality of the CRA's credit ratings; and generally ensure the

\_

<sup>12</sup> IOSCO Statement of Principles Regarding the Activities of Credit Rating Agencies, Statement of the Technical Committee, September 2003, available at <a href="http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD151.pdf">http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD151.pdf</a> (IOSCO CRA Principles).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> *Id*.

See *Objectives and Principles of Securities Regulation*, IOSCO, May 2003, available at <a href="http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD154.pdf">http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD154.pdf</a>.

See *Code of Conduct Fundamentals for Credit Rating Agencies*, The Technical Committee of IOSCO, December 2004, available at <a href="http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD180.pdf">http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD180.pdf</a>.

integrity of the credit rating process. The IOSCO CRA Code was designed to be relevant to all CRAs irrespective of their size, their business model, and the market in which they operate.

In the wake of the 2008 financial crisis, the IOSCO Chairman's Task Force on Credit Rating Agencies (CRA Task Force), the predecessor of C6, undertook a study of the role of CRAs in the structured finance market.<sup>16</sup> The study's findings were released in the IOSCO CRA Structured Finance Report. The report included several recommendations to revise the IOSCO CRA Code, which were adopted concurrently with the publication of the report.<sup>17</sup> The revisions were designed to address the concerns that emerged from the study, including questions regarding the quality of information that CRAs relied on, suggestions that CRAs were too slow to review existing ratings and make downgrades as appropriate, and the possible conflict of interest arising from CRAs advising issuers on how to design structured finance products. Based on the recommendations, an updated IOSCO CRA Code was published in May 2008.<sup>18</sup>

In 2009, the CRA Task Force completed a review of the level of CRA implementation of the IOSCO CRA Code and, in particular, the 2008 revisions.<sup>19</sup> The results of the review showed that, among the CRAs reviewed, a number were found to have substantially implemented the IOSCO CRA Code, including the three largest CRAs – Fitch, Moody's, and S&P.<sup>20</sup> In addition, a large majority of the remaining CRAs had implemented the 2004 IOSCO CRA Code provisions but had not yet implemented the provisions added through the 2008 revisions. Only a handful of the CRAs reviewed were found to have not implemented the IOSCO CRA Code in any meaningful way.

In 2010, the TC published a report containing the results of an evaluation by SC6 of how regional and national authorities were implementing CRA regulations.<sup>21</sup> Among other things, the report concluded that, while the structure and specific provisions of regulatory programs may differ, the objectives of the four IOSCO CRA Principles are embedded into each of the programs reviewed.

#### 2.2 The current project on internal controls and conflict procedures

<sup>16</sup> See IOSCO CRA Structured Finance Report.

<sup>17</sup> Id.

<sup>18</sup> See IOSCO CRA Code.

<sup>19</sup> See A Review of Implementation of the IOSCO Code of Conduct Fundamentals for Credit Rating Agencies, The Technical Committee of IOSCO, March 2009, available at http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD286.pdf. This report followed a Consultation Report published in 2007 that contained findings of a review of CRA implementation of the IOSCO CRA Code prior to it being revised in 2008. See Review of Implementation of The IOSCO Fundamentals of a Code of Conduct for Credit Rating Agencies, the Technical Committee of IOSCO, February 2007, available at http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD233.pdf.

<sup>20</sup> 

<sup>21</sup> See Regulatory Implementation of the Statement of Principles Regarding the Activities of Credit Rating Agencies, Final Report, Report of the Technical Committee of IOSCO, February 2011, available at http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD346.pdf and Consultation Report at http://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD319.pdf.

In June 2010, the TC approved two related project specifications for C6 entitled *CRA Internal Controls as a Means to Ensure the Integrity of the Ratings Process* (internal controls project) and *Credit Rating Agency Management of Conflicts of Interest* (conflicts project). The primary goal of the internal controls project is to obtain a comprehensive and practical understanding of CRAs' internal controls over the credit rating process that are designed to promote the quality of the credit ratings produced by CRAs. The primary goal of the conflicts project is to obtain a comprehensive and practical understanding of the current practices of CRAs designed to manage the conflicts of interest they face in connection with the determination and issuance of credit ratings. A second goal of both projects is to identify practices CRAs have implemented to give effect to the IOSCO CRA Principles and the IOSCO CRA Code.

In order to perform the work described in the mandates, C6 surveyed nine CRAs for the internal controls project and ten CRAs for the conflicts project.<sup>22</sup> Additionally, a number of the surveyed CRAs gave presentations on these topics to C6 during its regular meetings. The surveyed CRAs are active in C6 member jurisdictions, and encompass a range of business models, rating activities, and sizes. With regard to size, the surveyed CRAs ranged from global CRAs employing thousands of analysts in multiple offices internationally to single-office CRAs limiting their activities to a single jurisdiction (and with some CRAs falling in between these two extremes).

For the internal controls project, the CRAs were provided with a questionnaire designed to elicit information regarding their practices for ensuring the integrity of their processes for determining credit ratings. The CRAs were asked to describe the internal controls they have established that are designed to ensure the integrity of their credit rating processes and whether and how the internal controls address the IOSCO CRA Code provisions under Section 1 (Quality and Integrity of the Rating Process) and its three subsections: Section 1.A (Quality of the Rating Process), Section 1.B (Monitoring and Updating), and Section 1.C (Integrity of the Rating Process). For the conflicts project, CRAs were provided with a questionnaire designed to elicit information regarding the procedures they have established to manage the conflicts of interest inherent in their business models. The CRAs were asked to describe the procedures and whether and how they address the IOSCO CRA Code provisions under Section 2 (CRA Independence and Avoidance of Conflicts of Interest) and its three subsections: Section 2.A (General), Section 2.B (CRA Procedures and Policies), and Section 2.C (CRA Analyst and Employee Independence). The surveyed firms also were asked to detail their procedures for making and keeping records of matters that would be relevant to an assessment by regulators of the independence of a CRA's credit rating activities, including whether those activities have been compromised by conflicts of interest.

#### 2.3 Scope and purpose of the Final Report

This Final Report describes CRA practices that are designed to give effect to the IOSCO CRA Code provisions under Section 1 (*Quality and Integrity of the Rating Process*) and Section 2 (*CRA Independence and Avoidance of Conflicts of Interest*), based on responses to the two questionnaires and the comments received in response to the Consultation Report. Chapter 3 describes internal controls CRAs have established to promote the integrity of the credit rating process. Chapter 4 describes procedures CRAs have established to manage

-

conflicts of interest. To respect the confidentiality of individual firm information, the respondents that participated are not identified by name.

The reviews of the level of implementation of the IOSCO CRA Code completed in 2009, pursuant to the scope of the mandate for those reviews, only considered publicly available CRA codes of conduct and did not seek further information from the CRAs on the internal controls and procedures they have established to give effect to their code provisions. This Final Report seeks to go one step further and describe the operational practices of the CRAs, as identified by the CRAs, which are designed to give effect to the relevant provisions of the IOSCO CRA Code.

The intent of this Final Report is to provide a more comprehensive description of the internal controls implemented by CRAs to ensure the integrity of the credit rating process and procedures to manage conflicts of interest. It is not intended to prescribe recommended or mandatory standards for CRAs, nor make judgments about whether a particular internal control or procedure gives effect to a specific provision of the IOSCO CRA Code. Because this report is based on a desk-top review, it does not serve as an evaluation of CRAs' compliance with their internal controls and procedures or an evaluation of the effectiveness of their internal controls and procedures. The report is also not designed to assess how the internal controls and procedures work in practice. Finally, the findings in this report are subject to the limitations of the information received from CRAs and other respondents and were not independently verified by C6 members.

Given the large amount of information provided by the CRAs and the differing approaches they took in responding to C6's questionnaires, and in commenting on the Consultation Report, some degree of judgment and interpretation is necessary. Because this Final Report is prepared based on self-reported information from the CRAs, the Final Report provides a relatively brief discussion of certain issues, when inadequate information is received in terms of the operational details of the CRAs' internal controls and practices. Despite these limitations, the Final Report nonetheless provides a comprehensive description of the CRAs' internal controls to promote the integrity of the credit rating process and procedures to manage conflicts of interest.

#### **Chapter 3 Quality and Integrity of the Rating Process**

#### 3.1 Quality of the rating process

CRAs use different quantitative and qualitative models and methodologies to determine credit ratings. However, they generally follow the same steps to produce a credit rating. As described by the TC in 2003, the rating process has four main steps. First, there is a preparatory phase during which an analyst is assigned to gather information about the issuer of the security being rated (issuer) and the characteristics of the security or obligation being rated (obligation), or, if an entity is being rated itself, information about the entity (obligor). Second, there is an assessment phase during which the analyst applies that information to the models and methodologies in order to develop a recommendation for a rating committee on the credit rating that should be published by the CRA. Third, there is a decision phase during which a rating committee will consider the analyst's recommendation and related information, deliberate on the recommendation, and, if sufficient members agree, settle on a final credit rating to be published by the CRA. Fourth, there is a dissemination phase, at which point the assigned credit rating will be publicly announced if it is to be made available to the public or privately disseminated by the CRA.

The IOSCO CRA Code has provisions designed to enhance the quality of this rating process. This Chapter describes the CRAs' internal controls that seek to give effect to the provisions under Section 1 (*Quality and Integrity of the Rating Process*) of the IOSCO CRA Code. The subsections of the IOSCO CRA Code are quoted in the chronological order of the steps of the rating process.<sup>24</sup> Consequently, the provisions of the IOSCO CRA Code cited in the discussion below may not be in sequential order and may overlap in some instances.

#### 3.1.1 Overarching control functions within the CRA

Some CRAs, including the largest CRAs, have established some form of overarching control functions within their organizational structures that are designed to promote the integrity of the rating process. For example, several CRAs have a chief credit officer, which is a senior level position. The responsibilities of the chief credit officer may include independently reviewing rating methodologies and analyzing and validating models used in the credit rating process.

At one CRA, the chief credit officer is in charge of a credit policy team that has supervision over the rating process and the development, vetting, and review of rating methodologies. Among other things, this team is responsible for: (1) conducting research on ratings performance; (2) reviewing and approving methodologies and models; and (3) overseeing credit policy committees that formulate high-level rating policies and practices for each of the rating groups within the CRA. The credit policy team is separate from the rating groups that are principally responsible for rating obligors and obligations. The firm stated that the independence of this function is designed so that decisions taken on methodological issues or questions relating to how credit ratings have performed over time are "independent of any

To protect the confidentiality of the surveyed CRAs, in reporting their practices in the following sections, the generic term *rating committee* will be used to describe a committee of any form that performs the functions typically conducted by a rating committee regardless of the name or designation assigned to it by the CRA.

See *Report on the Activities of CRAs*, IOSCO, September 2003, supra fn 6.

non-credit business objective." The chief credit officer also chairs a credit policy committee that sets overall standards for the credit rating process. The committee is made up of the chief credit officers of each of the CRA's main rating groups (corporate finance, financial institutions, public and infrastructure finance, and structured finance), the managers of each of these rating groups, and other senior officers. The credit policy committee has three standing committees that review analytical and procedural issues in each of the main rating groups (one standing committee responsible for corporate finance and financial institutions, one standing committee responsible for public and infrastructure finance, and one standing committee responsible for structured finance).

Another CRA has established criteria and quality control functions that are each independent of the CRA's business lines. The criteria function is responsible for overseeing and approving the development of analytical methodologies and assumptions and changes to analytical methodologies and assumptions across products, sectors, and geographic regions. The quality control function is responsible for reviewing the CRA's adherence to analytical policies and procedures as well as overseeing ratings processes, conducting reviews of the quality and performance of credit ratings, and identifying areas for improvement. In this regard, the quality control personnel evaluate credit rating files for substantive analytical issues, including the adherence to analytical procedures and methodologies, the proper application of criteria, the quality of rating committee decisions, and the adequacy of file documentation. The quality control function also conducts sector reviews, rating committee assessments, and targeted post event reviews.

While small CRAs may not establish independent functions made up of groups of employees, one CRA has a head of methodology who is in charge of the firm's analysts and is accountable for all the ratings issued by the CRA. The head "does not perform regular ratings, but coordinates the rating process of the agency." The head monitors all stages of a rating process to make sure that analysts adhere to the firms' rating methodologies, policies and procedures. His role also includes overseeing that rating analysts are suitably qualified to perform the rating assignments.

In addition, some CRAs have established internal compliance and internal audit functions. Generally, the compliance functions are responsible for monitoring adherence to global regulatory requirements and providing training and guidance on compliance related policies and guidelines of the CRA. At least one CRA's internal audit function is separate and reports directly to the chief executive officer. At another CRA, the internal audit function conducts annual global audits of each rating group's rating processes and internal controls over the rating processes.

#### 3.1.2 Preparatory phase – gathering and using information

CRAs were asked to describe the internal controls they employ with respect to the information gathering process and the use of that information. Specifically, each firm was asked to describe whether and how its internal controls:

• Ensure that the opinions the firm disseminates are based on a thorough analysis of all information known to the CRA that is relevant to its analysis according to the CRA's published rating methodology (Code 1.1);

- Ensure that the CRA's ratings reflect all information known, and believed to be relevant, to the CRA, consistent with its published methodology (Code 1.4);
- Allow the CRA to determine whether its personnel are likely to have access to sufficient information to make a rating assessment (Code 1.7); and
- Ensure that the information it uses in assigning a rating is of sufficient quality to support a credible rating (Code 1.7).

CRAs use a range of information in determining credit ratings. For example, CRAs may use information obtained from issuers and obligors, information obtained from third parties including commercial vendors, and public information, which includes regulatory filings, information on new financings, defaults and bankruptcies, and performance data for structured finance transactions. One CRA states that it also uses "confidential proprietary information" of the CRA and its affiliates. Another CRA stated that, while publicly available information is used in the rating process, the "most relevant information" is provided by the issuer or the obligor, which includes up-to-date financial statements, projections of cash flows, historical operating indicators, and other corporate data.

Several CRAs make it the responsibility of the lead analyst to gather the relevant and necessary information to determine an issuer's credit rating. This includes having "frank discussions" with the issuer or obligor about its credit strengths and weaknesses, and trends in its industry. In terms of communicating to analysts the information that should be gathered, one CRA indicated that it requires each practice area to create and maintain a list of the types of information generally considered relevant to the credit ratings issued by that practice area. Similarly, a second CRA has internal policies for each major rating group that "provide guidance to assist them in determining the sufficiency of information received as part of the rating process." A third CRA cited training policies designed to provide guidance on the sufficiency of information. This firm "conducts mandatory training for all new analysts in their first year of employment, and every three years for existing analysts, on ensuring the robustness of data used to determine a credit rating." A fourth CRA noted that its methodologies "indicate, in general, the information necessary for the analysis, as well as the A fifth CRA uses checklists to identify necessary information. procedures to obtain it." Another CRA uses standardized questionnaires to gather information from issuers and obligors.

CRAs may also have policies and procedures regarding the presentation of information to a rating committee. One CRA's policies require the lead analyst to prepare and distribute to rating committee members (preferably in advance of the meeting) a package of information that includes the lead analyst's written credit analysis of the issuer or obligation being considered and his or her recommendation regarding the credit rating and any other supporting materials and analysis (e.g., models, portions of offering materials, written presentation materials provided by the issuer, financial analysis, peer group comparisons, other ratings issued by the CRA, ratings assigned by competitors, and market implied ratings). At another CRA, the presentations by analysts to rating committee members typically include a rating recommendation and rationale, a discussion of key analytical considerations, the principal methodologies and criteria applied, a draft press release and/or rating report, comparisons with similar ratings, peer ratings, financial forecasts, stress analysis and pro forma metrics, and key information from the issuer or obligor, market

information relevant to the issuer or obligor, and background information on the rating and relevant industry.

While the lead analyst may be responsible for gathering the necessary information, several CRAs make it the ultimate responsibility of the rating committee to assess whether the gathered information is sufficient to support the determination of a credit rating and whether that information has been adequately analyzed. One CRA stated that its policies require that the rating committee chair ensure, among other things, "that the rating committee reviews all relevant information and materials and appropriately applies [the CRA's] criteria." Another CRA indicated that its most senior credit analyst supervisors, who typically serve as rating committee chairs, are responsible in that capacity for ensuring that the CRA's policies, procedures, and methodologies are followed and that the rating process is "based upon information and documentation reasonably believed to be reliable."

If the information is insufficient, the CRAs will not continue with the rating process. One CRA noted that it only assigns ratings when there is "sufficient information available to support the analysis and monitor the rating on an ongoing basis." The CRA stated that it "refrains from assigning credit ratings and will discontinue an outstanding rating in any situation where there was a lack of reliable data (including in respect of the assets underlying a structured product)...or where the quality of information is not satisfactory or raises serious questions as to whether a credible credit rating can be provided." Another CRA explained that its head of analysis, whose responsibilities include checking that credit rating analyses are prepared in accordance with the firm's specified methodology, may question the responsible analysts about the information used; and its rating committee has veto power over the assignment of a rating in the event that it believes that the firm's information requirements were not sufficiently met.

A third CRA explained that an analyst is required to report to his or her manager an assessment of the sufficiency of the quality of the information before proceeding with the rating process. If the manager has doubts about the quality of the information, a committee will be convened to determine whether or not to proceed with the rating. In addition, at the rating committee stage, the rating committee chair may stop the rating process if he or she has concerns with the quality of the information. Another CRA noted that if rating committee members have concerns about the completeness or accuracy of information that is relevant to the credit assessment, which could affect the rating outcome, the rating committee is adjourned and the lead analyst is asked to collect and analyze additional information. This additional information gathering process could involve, among other things, requesting that the issuer or obligor provide additional information or verify data previously provided. The CRA explained that, once the additional information has been obtained and analyzed, the rating committee is reconvened. However, if the lead analyst or rating committee believes the information is still insufficient, the CRA will decline to assign a credit rating or withdraw an outstanding credit rating, as applicable.

Two firms noted that they conduct due diligence visits to verify the information used in credit assessment. One of them visits the premises of the issuer or obligor to confirm information provided and to collect additional information about the issuer or obligor. The other CRA conducts property inspections when rating commercial mortgage-backed securities.

#### 3.1.3 Assessment phase – use and consistency of methodologies

CRAs were asked to describe the internal controls they employ in connection with the use of their rating methodologies. Specifically, each firm was asked to describe whether and how its internal controls:

- Ensure that it uses rating methodologies that are rigorous, systematic, and, where possible, result in ratings that can be subjected to some form of objective validation based on historical experience (Code 1.2);
- Ensure that in assessing an issuer's creditworthiness, analysts involved in the preparation or review of any rating action use methodologies established by the CRA (Code 1.3); and
- Ensure that analysts apply a given methodology in a consistent manner, as determined by the CRA (Code 1.3).

Several CRAs make it the responsibility of the lead analyst and, ultimately, the rating committee chair to select the appropriate models and methodologies to use in determining a given credit rating. In this regard, one CRA explained that the firm's chief credit officers are expected to help analysts "understand how [the firm's] established methodologies should be applied." Another CRA stated that analysts are "accompanied by senior managers in order to standardize processes and avoid misunderstanding of the methodology." The analyst and this senior manager meet in a "pre-committee" before the rating committee convenes, to review whether the analyst is using an inappropriate methodology or data interpretation and to "give consistency to the findings." A senior officer, whose role is to "homogenize the analytical procedures and the consistency of the conclusions and fundamentals," also monitors this "analyst-senior manager" teamwork process.

CRAs also may use *after-the-fact* reviews to test whether analysts and rating committees are using the correct models and methodologies. One CRA noted that its internal compliance group has procedures to test whether the analysts involved in the preparation or review of any rating action comply with the relevant methodologies. A second CRA stated that the internal audit function conducts global audits of each rating group on an annual basis, focusing on the processes and internal controls over the rating process. This firm also noted that its rating groups are organized globally along major lines of business and stated that this approach contributes to rating quality and integrity by facilitating consistency in analytical approach, as appropriate, across jurisdictions. The internal audit function also conducts rating performance studies to determine if the CRA's rating system and the methodologies that underpin that system are performing in accordance with expectations.

One CRA described a number of tools it uses to promote consistency in its application of methodologies. One such measure is to publish its methodologies, credit rating decisions, and credit rating research papers for public scrutiny and let the public inform the CRA if there is any inconsistency in the application of its methodologies. Another measure is to ensure that deviations in the application of any methodology are properly documented. Further, the firm's credit policy function conducts reviews of credit ratings to identify outliers for further analysis.

#### 3.1.4 Decision phase – rating committee structure and voting process

CRAs were asked to describe the internal procedures and mechanisms they employ in connection with their rating committee processes. Specifically, each firm was asked to describe whether and how its internal procedures and mechanisms:

- Ensure that credit ratings are assigned by the CRA and not by any individual analyst employed by the CRA (Code 1.4); and
- Ensure that the CRA uses people who, individually or collectively (particularly where rating committees are used), have appropriate knowledge and experience in developing a rating opinion for the type of credit being applied (Code 1.4).

Each of the CRAs surveyed reported that it used rating committees to ensure that its credit ratings were assigned by the CRA and not by an individual analyst. The composition of those committees as well as the policies governing the rating committee decision-making process, however, varied among the surveyed CRAs.

Several CRAs identified education and experience qualifications as a prerequisite to serving on a rating committee. One CRA noted that an analyst who participates in a rating committee generally must have been employed as an analyst for at least one year and must be approved by his or her manager to vote in the rating committee. Some CRAs emphasized that they seek to staff rating committees with individuals that have a range of perspectives. One CRA explained that committee participants are selected with a view toward bringing together individuals who are familiar with the issuer or obligor, individuals who are knowledgeable about the industry or asset class, and "individuals with fresh perspectives on the credit in question." At another CRA, rating committee members potentially could include one or more analysts from the same rating group (including analysts from the same region and/or other regions), analysts from another rating group "who may bring a useful perspective to bear on the analysis," senior-level analysts, specialist analysts (e.g., accounting specialists), and/or "support analysts." A third CRA stated that it may consult external specialized professionals such as accounting experts and lawyers, among others, in order to qualify its credit opinion "[w]henever deemed necessary."

A fourth CRA requires the lead analyst to report to his or her manager as to whether or not a sufficient number of staff possessing professional expertise and skills in handling the relevant credit ratings can be secured. The manager will then determine whether the rating committee process can be commenced. If the manager has doubts, the manager will convene a special committee to decide on this issue. In the event that a rating committee is convened based on the special committee's decision but the chair of the rating committee takes the view that there is insufficient expertise among the participating members to vote on the credit rating, the rating committee will not proceed any further until staff with the necessary expertise and skills can be secured.

Another CRA explained that its head of analysis is responsible for ensuring that a committee has the most appropriate composition in terms of the experience and qualifications of its members, taking into account "the peculiarities and characteristics of the asset/issuer evaluated" and confirming that committee members have "time availability and the tools needed to take part." The CRA noted that while only two analysts may be involved in the rating process, its standing rating committee operates with a minimum of five members and

takes decisions based only upon a majority vote, adding, "[h]owever, if there are any major disagreements in the vote, the vote is generally done over."

At another CRA, the firm's most senior credit analyst supervisors, who typically serve as rating committee chairs, are responsible for ensuring, among other things, that all proposed ratings and rating actions are reviewed by a properly constituted rating committee, which includes soliciting participation by other groups, as necessary. The CRA noted that rating committee voters are selected from a pre-approved list. In addition to the chair and the lead analyst, committee membership is generally comprised of analysts with at least five years of experience.

In terms of discussions and voting at rating committees, , the chair of the rating committee at one CRA is expected to encourage broad-based participation from all members, regardless of seniority, and the expression of dissenting or controversial views. Once a full discussion has taken place, voting begins with the lead analyst and back-up analyst and, thereafter, voting by other members generally in rank order from junior to senior, with the chair voting last so that the senior members (including the chair) do not influence the votes of the junior members. If no single outcome has the support of the majority, the rating committee is reconvened and another analyst (who is at least a managing director or above) is brought in to serve on the reconvened committee.

At another CRA, members of the rating committee are encouraged to express dissenting or controversial views and to discuss differences openly. The CRA stated that discussion in a rating committee should continue "as long as necessary so that the relevant points, including differences of opinion, are thoroughly discussed, assumptions are tested, and a fully reasoned opinion is articulated that is supported by a majority vote of the rating committee." In a third CRA, dissenting views expressed at rating committees meeting are recorded anonymously in the minutes of the meetings.

Another CRA has separate requirements for corporate and structured finance ratings committees. For corporate finance ratings committees, the firm features different rating committee compositions for different situations. A rating committee with a quorum of three voters may perform "limited straight forward rating actions," while a quorum of five voters is necessary for a rating committee to perform more complicated actions. For structured finance ratings, the CRA noted that it may convene preliminary rating committees at any time during the rating process to determine credit enhancement levels for a proposed transaction, assign provisional ratings, or resolve a substantive issue prior to continuing with a transaction's credit analysis. Structured finance rating committees may operate exclusively through e-mail when dealing with "minor events;" however, a unanimous vote is needed for the committee to take action through e-mail, and a full rating committee is necessary for assigning rating actions on newly issued securities and for taking rating actions such as upgrades or downgrades on existing securities. Structured finance rating committees must have at least four voters, with a minimum of one of the firm's most senior credit analyst supervisors, two voters from a pre-approved list, and one voter from another product group. Rating decisions are made based on a majority vote.

Several CRAs discussed their knowledge prerequisites and training policies for rating committee participants. One CRA stated that its professional development and training program "contributes to the quality of [the CRA's] rating analysis" by providing training designed to, among other things, help analysts maintain and enhance their knowledge base

and familiarize them with credit-related issues, and emerging trends in the market. This CRA noted that it "seeks to employ [analysts] who have the requisite skills, are appropriately qualified for their positions, demonstrate good judgment, and adhere to high standards of integrity. [The firm] recruits individuals with diverse educational backgrounds and work experience to serve as [analysts] for different industry sectors and asset classes so that, individually and/or collectively, they possess the appropriate knowledge and experience to analyze the particular type of credit presented in each circumstance." Another CRA noted that in assigning analysts to perform credit ratings, its head of analysis takes into account the analyst's experience, knowledge and familiarity with the issuer being evaluated, knowledge of the methodology to be used, educational level, and availability. Under this CRA's continuing training policy, the CRA pays in full for specialized courses in areas relevant to analysts' duties (e.g., accounting, finance, economics, languages) and pays for at least 50% of the value of monthly tuition for postgraduate studies of all of its employees.

Finally, one CRA noted that although it does not have an ongoing training program, its analysts are encouraged to attend workshops and related events, as well as to take specific training courses if management deems such courses to be relevant to the agency's activities. It stated that any newly-hired analyst, regardless of seniority level, is required to attend a two-month introductory training course to learn about the CRA's rating concepts and methodologies, prior to any participation in rating activities. During this period, the analyst will not perform any ratings and will attend committee meetings only as an observer.

#### 3.1.5 Dissemination phase – release of rating actions

CRAs were asked to describe the internal controls they employ in connection with releasing rating actions. Specifically, each firm was asked to describe whether and how its internal controls:

- Take steps to avoid issuing any credit analyses or reports that contain misrepresentations or are otherwise misleading as to the general creditworthiness of an issuer or obligation (Code 1.6); and
- Make clear in a prominent place, if the rating involves a type of financial product presenting limited historical data (such as an innovative financial vehicle), the limitations of the rating (Code 1.7).

CRAs may use internal and external reviews to ensure that a credit rating and any related materials to be published with the credit rating (e.g., a press release announcing the credit rating) do not contain errors of fact or other mistakes. One CRA stated that its most senior credit analyst supervisors, who typically serve as rating committee chairs, are responsible for ensuring that the content of the CRA's press releases and rating reports are consistent with the content of the rating committee presentations and decisions made by the rating committees. Another CRA stated the main analyst and the secondary analyst involved in the rating process are responsible for reviewing materials. In addition, the head of analysis checks all rating reports.

With respect to external reviews, CRAs may provide the issuer or obligor that is the subject of the credit rating with an opportunity to review materials to be published. One CRA explained that "where feasible and appropriate," prior to issuing or revising a credit rating, the firm provides the issuer or obligor with a draft of the credit rating announcement. This

allows the issuer the opportunity to identify and correct any factual errors. Similarly, another CRA stated that it generally provides the issuer or obligor with an opportunity to identify any misrepresentations or misleading statements in the credit rating rationale prior to its issuance. The issuer or obligor is permitted to appeal the credit rating if it believes that the CRA has missed or materially misinterpreted critical information.

CRAs also have policies requiring that certain disclosures be made about credit ratings to inform users of the credit ratings of any potential limitations. One CRA noted that its credit rating announcements include, among other things, identification of the sources of information used in the rating process, disclosures about the quality of information used in the rating process, and "disclosures regarding the attributes and limitations" of credit ratings. In this regard, the CRA discloses, at the end of each rating announcement, that it "is not an auditor and cannot in every instance independently verify or validate information received in the rating process." With respect to structured finance products, the CRA also discloses, where applicable and through a separate rating metric, when "there is limited, but not unsatisfactory, historical performance data for the assets in the underlying pool (such as an innovative financial vehicle)." In addition, if the limitations on the information used to determine the rating are "sufficiently significant" and could influence that rating, the CRA also discloses that fact. The CRA stated generally that its policies describe and provide guidance on the disclosures to be included in credit rating announcements and its internal audit function conducts periodic reviews of the process for issuing credit rating announcements, including the process for including appropriate regulatory disclosures.

A second CRA stated that its rating report lists the most important information received and attests as to whether it was enough to conduct the analysis within the applied methodology. It also attests as to whether there was any type of limitation or if some relevant information was not received and explicitly states whether and in what way this limited the analysis. Finally, a third CRA stated that for credit ratings that are to be made publicly available, it provides, among other things, an explanation of the assumptions, significance, and limitations of the determined credit rating, including an explanation on the limitations of the rating where applicable.

One CRA uses an automated system to release most of its ratings. This system has a built-in control mechanism to ensure that all steps of a rating process have been taken prior to the release of a rating. Each step of the system has to be completed; it does not allow any step to be skipped. In summary, the system works as follows: the rating reviewed by an analyst will be forwarded to the rating committee chair for confirmation and attestation, which will then be sent for data review and thereafter, it will only be released upon the editor's confirmation that it is ready for release. For those jurisdictions that mandate prior notification be given to the issuer, the system will not release a credit rating until the requisite notice period has expired.

#### 3.2 Resources adequacy to ensure the quality of the rating process

CRAs were asked to describe their internal controls to address the adequacy of resources a CRA devotes to the rating process. Specifically, each firm was asked to describe whether and how its internal controls:

- Are designed to ensure that in deciding whether to rate or continue rating an obligation or issuer, the firm assesses whether it is able to devote enough personnel with sufficient skill sets to make a proper rating assessment (Code 1.7);
- Establish a review function made up of one or more senior managers with appropriate experience to review the feasibility of providing a credit rating for a type of structure that is materially different from the structures the CRA currently rates (Code 1.7-1);
- Assess, for structured finance products, whether existing methodologies and models for determining credit ratings of structured products are appropriate when the risk characteristics of the assets underlying a structured product change materially (Code 1.7-3);
- Refrain from issuing a credit rating, in cases where the complexity or structure of a new type of structured product or the lack of robust data about the assets underlying the structured product raise serious questions as to whether the CRA can determine a credible credit rating for the security (Code 1.7-3);
- Establish and implement a rigorous and formal review function responsible for periodically reviewing the methodologies and models and significant changes to the methodologies and models it uses (Code 1.7-2);
- Where feasible and appropriate for the size and scope of its credit rating services, keep such function independent of the business lines that are principally responsible for rating various classes of issuers and obligations (Code 1.7-2);
- Ensure that, if it uses separate analytical teams for determining initial credit ratings and for subsequent monitoring of structured finance products, each team has the requisite level of expertise and resources to perform its functions in a timely manner (Code 1.9-1); and
- Ensure that its rating teams are structured to promote continuity and avoid bias in the rating process (Code 1.8).

#### 3.2.1 Resources adequacy

Some CRAs have processes to periodically review their resource needs. For example, one CRA noted that its risk management group produces a report every six months that evaluates whether the CRA has devoted sufficient personnel and financial resources to produce timely and rigorous ratings. In addition, it also evaluates, every three years, the rating staff's abilities to conduct robust rating analysis of the entities and instruments that the CRA rates. Another CRA noted that it has a team of senior managers that annually reviews the level and type of staff and other resources required on a regional and business unit basis. This firmwide review process considers many different factors, including anticipated business needs, budgetary proposals, the complexity and volume of transactions, and the availability of qualified people and technology. Based on this review, the team decides whether, and to what extent, different groups within the CRA have additional personnel and related resource needs. As part of resources allocation planning, the firm also evaluates internal processes and market trends and in some circumstances, may re-assign analysts from one sector to another, based on its business needs. A third CRA noted that it determines the resources required

based on, among others, information from human resources and senior management on staffing and talent reviews and operation units' feedback regarding implications of business trends on current resources.

#### 3.2.1.a Resources adequacy – review function for new products

One CRA indicated that it requires that all new criteria or new uses for existing criteria, including any criteria used for a new type of structure, be reviewed and approved by a practice criteria committee, and in a number of circumstances, by a higher level authority as well, including when the criteria (i) involve the application of highly specialized expertise, (ii) involve a meaningful methodological change or the development of new tools or models, (iii) relate to a type of issuance that is rapidly growing, or (iv) carry meaningful franchise or reputational risk. Another CRA noted that its policies require its credit policy group to conduct an assessment of whether existing methodologies and models for structured finance products are appropriate when the CRA determines that the risk characteristics of the assets underlying a structured finance product have changed materially. A third CRA noted that its head of analysis, together with its standing rating committee, "checks the requirements necessary to perform a high-quality analysis...within the methodologies used by the company, considering, among other things, the product characteristics, the experience and the technical knowledge of the analyst, as well as the information necessary for the analysis performance." The CRA stated that if this assessment reveals that the rating will involve issues not explicitly addressed by the firm's methodologies, it will not perform the rating.

A fourth CRA has a policy of not determining credit ratings if the CRA does not have sufficient experience. All "technical decisions," including whether or not to perform a rating, are made by two senior officers, one who has the overall responsibility for the firm and the other who is in charge of the analysts and accountable for all ratings issued by the CRA. At another CRA, if there is no in-house expertise to rate a new product, the firm will engage an external consultant to be a part of the rating committee.

#### 3.2.1.b Resources adequacy – periodic reviews of methodologies

Several CRAs have processes for reviewing existing methodologies. The credit policy function of one CRA reviews the firm's methodologies, models and significant changes to such methodologies and models at least once every twelve months. The CRA explained that its methodology reviews are designed to determine if the methodology under review addresses the key credit risks and whether improvements should be implemented. There are internal policies for the conduct of such reviews and the topics addressed in a methodology review will differ depending on the methodology in question and any changes in the sector or asset class associated with the methodology. The process for a credit rating methodology review entails both quantitative and qualitative analyses, including an analysis of the models and data underpinning a methodology and "[t]he reasonableness of the overall analytical rating framework." If a review leads to a determination that a change may be appropriate, the potential change is presented to the relevant ratings team. The ratings team will either accept the recommendations and propose an implementation timeline and path to resolution, or reject them and provide a rationale. The firm added that changes to its credit rating methodologies "generally occur in incremental steps of continuous refinement."

By contrast, a few CRAs indicated that they have no defined timeframes for reviewing their methodologies. One CRA reported that the review of the methodological standards "occurs

regularly," as well as whenever necessary due to significant changes in the structure of the instruments rated, in regulations, in micro- and macro-economic factors, or in legal factors. The CRA stated that in light of its current status and size, it believes that for the time being it cannot establish a review function that is independent from the business lines responsible for the preparation of risk analyses. Instead, the members of the standing rating committee, the head of analysis, and the president of the company are responsible for the review. Another CRA indicated that it has no regular review schedule but instead performs a review of a methodology "whenever a relevant change is deemed necessary," which typically results from changes in legislation or due to the "situational relevance" of a given risk factor. A third CRA reported that its rating analysts are responsible for "regularly monitor[ing] the appropriateness and effectiveness" of its methodologies and bringing a proposal for revision, update or discontinuation of a methodology to the relevant rating committee.

Several CRAs have established dedicated functions to approve new rating methodologies and material changes to existing methodologies. For example, one CRA explained that its rating groups are responsible for developing new credit rating methodologies and it has a separate credit policy function responsible for reviewing and approving new credit rating methodologies. All methodologies governing new industries, new sectors, or new asset classes must also be approved by the firm's credit policy committee, which has the overall responsibility for the CRA's credit rating policies and sets the standards for its rating process. The CRA explained, however, that notwithstanding this policy, if the proposed methodology presented by the rating group is "very similar to an existing methodology and governs a closely related industry, sector or asset class, the chief credit officer for the rating group can unilaterally approve the methodology" unless the chief credit officer believes that further analysis is needed, in which case it must be reviewed by the appropriate credit policy standing committee. If the credit policy standing committee approves the methodology, the chief credit officer for the relevant rating group can either accept its recommendation or request a further review by the Credit Policy Committee. Moreover, the firm's two head regional credit officers receive copies of all proposed methodologies and can request a reconsideration of the proposed methodology even if it was previously approved by the chief credit officer for the rating group or the relevant credit policy standing committee. The credit policy committee's methodology decisions are final

In addition, the firm stated that its policies require the convening of a "senior rating committee" when a rating outcome "might set a precedent in some way, affect an issuer that commands a particularly high degree of investor interest, or affect a large number or volume of credits." Chief credit officers and senior managers across all lines of business, as well as analysts who ordinarily would participate in rating committees for the issuer or obligation under consideration, are invited to participate.

#### 3.2.1.c Resources adequacy – structured finance initial ratings and surveillance

One CRA indicated that its risk management group produces a report every six months that evaluates whether the CRA has devoted sufficient personnel and financial resources to produce timely and rigorous ratings, which includes a review of the number of credit ratings that both new deal and surveillance analysts must follow, in those groups with separate analytical teams. Another CRA noted that it employs the same training procedures for its initial rating teams and surveillance teams, in each case providing training designed to, among other things, help analysts maintain and enhance their knowledge of matters relevant to credit risk analysis and the rating process and familiarize them with credit-related issues,

and emerging trends and issues in the market. A third CRA also stated that all employees in analytical roles, whether involved in initially determining ratings or surveying existing ratings, are subject to the same ongoing education requirements.

#### 3.2.2 Continuity in the rating process and avoidance of bias

One CRA stated that its record retention policies, procedures, and mechanisms help to preserve the firm's institutional memory and thereby contribute to continuity. Another CRA stated that its analytical groups work in conjunction with its credit policy team to develop rating process manuals and other policies and procedures for the provision of credit ratings in order to ensure a level of commonality among its offices. This CRA also noted that its credit policy function is designed to contribute to continuity in the rating process and the avoidance of bias by exercising oversight over the rating process and over the development, vetting and review of rating methodologies. A third CRA noted that the participation of multiple individuals in the analysis and rating process (at least two analysts, together with all the members of the standing rating committee, for each analysis) helps to ensure continuity. Another CRA stated that it promotes continuity by structuring its analytical teams to ensure that lead analysts are supported by one or more backup analysts.

Several CRAs view the rating committee process as a measure to avoid bias in the rating process. For example, one CRA stated that the application of a proprietary methodology for the analysis performed, the use of a secondary analyst for each rating, the oversight provided by the head of analysis, the required presentation by the lead analyst to the standing rating committee, and the fact that ratings are assigned based on a majority vote by committee members helps avoid bias in the rating process. Similarly, another CRA cited its use of rating committees, which ensure that rating decisions reflect the committee and not individual analysts, as a "checkpoint to conflicts of interest."

A number of the CRAs also have an analyst rotation policy to avoid bias in the rating process. In some markets where CRAs have offices, there are regulations that prescribe the rotational frequency of a lead analyst, a rating analyst, and a person approving credit ratings within the firm, and mandate a "cooling off" period, after an analyst's rotation, with respect to an issuer during which he should not engage in any rating activities related to that issuer.

#### 3.3 Monitoring and updating

CRAs were asked to describe their internal controls designed to ensure that adequate personnel and financial resources are allocated to monitor and update their ratings. Specifically, each firm was asked to describe whether and how its internal controls:

- Require regular reviews of an issuer's or instrument's creditworthiness (Code 1.9a);
- Require *ad hoc* reviews of the status of a rating upon becoming aware of any information that might reasonably be expected to result in a rating action (including termination of a rating), consistent with the applicable rating methodology (Code 1.9b);
- Require updating of a rating, as appropriate and on a timely basis, based on the results of a review (Code 1.9c);

- Seek to ensure that the ratings monitoring process incorporates all cumulative experience obtained since the initial rating, including, where appropriate, the application of changes in ratings criteria and assumptions (Code 1.9); and
- Require the disclosure, either publicly or to subscribers, as appropriate, of the discontinuation of any rating (Code 1.10).

#### 3.3.1 Regular ratings reviews

Most of the CRAs surveyed seek to review their credit ratings at least annually and, with respect to some classes of credit ratings, more frequently. Several CRAs also noted that their surveillance is an "ongoing" process.

One CRA stated, "generally a rating is fully reviewed and a meeting conducted with senior management of the issuer on an annual basis." However, this CRA indicated that periodic reviews for structured finance ratings are more frequent. It is the responsibility of the lead analyst to identify the types of performance metrics to be reviewed and the frequency of review at the initiation of the rating. Reviews may occur upon events such as the receipt of performance reports or pool tapes associated with the interest payment date, which typically occurs either on a monthly or quarterly basis. The surveillance analyst is responsible for notifying his or her supervisor and the lead rating analyst if the performance reports are not received in a timely manner.

At a second CRA, the review frequency varies across industry sectors and asset classes and is based on the unique characteristics of each particular sector or asset class, subject to a review at least once per year. The CRA conducts surveillance of structured finance ratings through various types of rating reviews, which include high-level reviews of the performance of ratings in an asset class or sub-sector, portfolio reviews, and detailed reviews of individual transactions. For ratings in corporate finance, financial institutions and public and infrastructure finance, portfolio reviews are conducted at least once a year to assess the credit quality of issuers that are representative of an industry sector or sub-sector. This CRA noted that analysts may review public as well as non-public information provided by the issuer or obligor in their monitoring. In addition, the firm's analysts use a range of tools to monitor and track rated issuers and obligations, which include comparing credit ratings with other measures of credit risk such as measures derived from the market prices of bonds and credit default swaps and accounting ratio-implied ratings based on default prediction and rating prediction models (for corporate and sovereign issuers).

#### 3.3.2 Ad hoc ratings reviews

Most of the CRAs have policies regarding rating reviews triggered by the receipt of new information about the issuer or obligor or by events that may impact the ratings such as changes in rating methodologies that may impact outstanding credit ratings. One CRA noted that it is required in some of the jurisdictions to publish the scope of its existing ratings that may be impacted by a change in methodologies, models or key assumptions used in the rating process and to indicate a time frame for reviewing and updating the affected ratings. This CRA indicated that the review of the affected ratings is usually completed within six months of the change.

#### 3.3.3 Timely updates of ratings

A number of CRAs cited their internal policies and best practices in relation to updating ratings following reviews. One CRA's best practice guide provides that if, as result of the monitoring procedures, an analyst believes that a rating committee should consider an existing rating, a rating committee will be convened in a timely manner. Moreover, if there is a change in the rating after the rating committee's deliberation, a rating announcement will be published "as soon as possible." A second CRA explained that the timeliness in updating its ratings "depends on the promptness and quality of information" that the issuer or obligor provides to the firm. In cases where the CRA receives public information that has an impact on the rating, it requests that the issuer or obligor confirm the accuracy of the public information. If the issuer or obligor refuses, the CRA may revise the credit rating nonetheless but will include a caveat on the quality of the information used in the rating process in its rating announcement.

#### 3.3.4 Comprehensive monitoring

Several CRAs noted their policies to ensure that monitoring includes consistent application of changes in rating methodologies and assumptions to initial and subsequent ratings. One CRA explained that the developmental process of a revised methodology entails an impact assessment if the firm believes that a proposed revision of a methodology could affect existing credit ratings. If a proposed revision of a methodology may affect existing ratings, the CRA will "review the potentially affected, existing credit ratings in advance of the publication of the methodology so that credit rating announcements regarding any rating changes can be published as soon as the methodology is published." Alternatively, the firm may "disclose a timeline for the review of existing credit ratings along with the publication of the methodology." A second CRA stated that the firm has a policy that provides that "changes in methodologies, models or key rating assumptions will trigger a review of affected credit ratings."

Two CRAs cited the use of records as a means to ensure that monitoring incorporates all cumulative experience. One CRA explained that it keeps and relies on records encompassing the history of all ratings issued for each issuer or asset. These records also reflected the firm's reasons for changing a rating, including those related to changes in the methodological criteria. The second CRA also noted its reliance on records of ratings, materials used, and minutes of the rating committee for comprehensive monitoring purposes. At this CRA, the original analyst will be involved for all subsequent ratings and reviews.

#### 3.3.5 Disclosure of discontinued ratings

CRAs which operate on an issuer-paid basis will generally announce their withdrawal of ratings to the public.<sup>25</sup> Specifically, at one CRA, the withdrawal of the credit rating is publicized in one of two different forms: either in a credit rating announcement relating to the specific issuer or obligation, or in a monthly press release that lists all credit ratings withdrawn in the preceding month. The monthly press release will indicate the reasons for withdrawal, such as bankruptcy, liquidation, debt restructuring, reorganization, or maturity. In addition, all credit ratings that have been withdrawn are identified as such on the firm's website by a distinct symbol. A second CRA discloses the withdrawal of any public rating

<sup>-</sup>

Typically, issuer-paid CRAs make their credit ratings publicly available for free.

by publishing a commentary that identifies the current ratings of the issuer or obligor and provides notice that they have been withdrawn. The commentary also indicates that the firm will cease providing credit ratings and analytical coverage of the issuer or obligor. Another CRA provides notice of the withdrawal of a credit rating on its public website. A fourth CRA stated that upon the expiry of its service contract with its clients, it will announce on its website the expiration of the client's contract and the resulting withdrawal of its rating. This information will be made available on the firm's website for 30 days.

By contrast, one CRA, which runs on a subscriber-paid business model, does not publicly disclose discontinued ratings, but rather, this information is made available to its users on its website accessible by subscribers only.

#### 3.4 Integrity of the rating process

CRAs were requested to describe internal controls that are designed to ensure the integrity of their ratings process, in particular, the internal procedures and mechanisms that:

- Seek to ensure that internal records that support its credit opinions are maintained for a reasonable period of time or in accordance with applicable law (Code 1.5);
- Seek to ensure compliance with all applicable laws and regulations governing the firm and its employees' activities in each jurisdiction in which it operates (Code 1.11);
- Clearly specify a person responsible for the firm's and its employees' compliance with the provisions of its code of conduct and with applicable laws and regulations, and ensure that such person's reporting lines and compensation are independent of the rating operations (Code 1.15);
- Provide for employee reporting of conduct that is illegal, unethical or contrary to the firm's code of conduct; seek to ensure that any of the firm's officers who receive such a report from an employee take appropriate action, as determined by the laws and regulations of the relevant jurisdiction and its own internal rules and guidelines; and prohibit retaliation by the firm or any of its employees against any employees who, in good faith, make such reports (Code 1.16);
- Seek to ensure that the firm and its employees deal fairly and honestly with issuers, investors, other market participants, and the public (Code 1.12);
- Seek to hold its analysts to high standards of integrity and seek to avoid employing individuals with demonstrably compromised integrity (Code 1.12 and 13); and
- Seek to ensure that neither the firm nor its employees either implicitly or explicitly give any assurance or guarantee of a particular rating prior to a rating assessment (Code 1.14).

#### 3.4.1 Firms' compliance culture

One CRA believes that "it is essential to foster a culture that embeds compliance at all levels of the organization from the most senior to the most junior staff member." Employees are encouraged to seek advice and guidance from compliance officers as soon as questions arise

because "early engagement" between the compliance officers and staff "can mitigate potential pitfalls and risks in a timely fashion." To facilitate "early engagement," contact details of staff from the compliance department are provided on an intranet site accessible to all employees. This CRA seeks to reinforce compliance behavior through a procedural mechanism: employees must certify their adherence with the firm's general code of business conduct<sup>26</sup> and other policies on a regular basis. The CRA noted that disciplinary action, including termination of employment, may be taken against any violation of the firm's general code of business conduct.

At another CRA, to foster a compliant culture, it provides compliance training to its staff and posts its policies and procedures on the firm's intranet. It also has processes to address third party complaints about ratings and violations of its code of conduct. The firm's compliance audit group checks the staff's compliance with its code of conduct, and any violators are subject to disciplinary action.

#### 3.4.2 Role of compliance

The larger CRAs tend to have independent compliance departments, and in firms that are globally active, a "chief compliance officer" typically heads the compliance department. Generally, the compliance department personnel are responsible for monitoring adherence to global regulatory requirements and providing training and guidance on compliance related policies and guidelines of the CRA. For example, at one CRA, the principal responsibility of the compliance department is to monitor the adherence of the CRA and its employees to the CRA's code of conduct, ratings policies and procedures, and the local laws of the markets in which the firm operates. It provides guidance and updates on policies and procedures and trains staff to understand existing and new compliance obligations. The compliance department also assesses the effectiveness of the implementation of the firm's code of conduct. The compliance officers have the duty to report any non-compliance to senior management or the board, as appropriate, or to the authorities, as required and permitted by law. Senior management and the board look to the compliance department to recommend the appropriate disciplinary action for any non-compliance.

The compliance department is independent of the firm's lines of business and reports ultimately to the chief executive of the company. Moreover, the compensation of employees in the compliance department is not linked to the firm's financial performance. The compliance department personnel are prohibited from performing marketing or sales functions and participating in establishing compensation levels for other employees and also do not sit in any specific rating committees or opine on any particular rating action.

Another CRA noted that its compliance manager, who reports directly to the chief executive officer, is responsible for making sure that the firm's code of conduct is properly implemented and adhered to by its employees. In this regard, the compliance manager produces a compliance report in which he or she certifies that the firm's code of conduct has been implemented and observed by employees and identifies any implementation adjustments made.

This CRA explained that the firm's general code of business conduct is designed to guide employees and directors on how to apply the principles of honesty, integrity and good judgment in daily business activities.

On the other hand, one small CRA indicated that it does not have a full-time compliance officer; instead, an employee, who knows the details of the firm's code of conduct, undertakes the compliance function. This employee reports directly to the general manager of the firm on compliance matters.

#### 3.4.3 Reporting of questionable behavior

Many of the CRAs surveyed have established "whistle blower" policies. For example, one CRA indicated that its code of conduct strongly encourages employees to report questionable conduct, either to the appropriate department or through a dedicated hotline service established by the firm. To facilitate reporting, contact details of the relevant officers in the legal and compliance departments and contact details of the hotline service are provided in the firm's code of conduct.

This CRA pointed out that there are differences in practices between operations based in the EU and those based outside the EU. Employees who are located outside the EU are encouraged to report suspected misconduct. On the other hand, due to domestic data protection laws, employees based in the EU are generally not expected to report suspicious misconduct except in certain circumstances, for example, where an employee believes that certain misconduct may contravene the law. Guidance on how to report and who to report to as well as contact links to the appropriate department and the relevant hotline services are provided on its intranet. The CRA also explained that all employees at all levels, including those who hold managerial positions, are required to follow the firm's code of conduct on reporting of misconduct. The legal or compliance officers, upon receiving a "whistleblower" report, will, in the first instance, assess the information they received and then determine an appropriate course of action. According to this CRA, the firm maintains an "open door" policy in relation to such matters, and employees are "encouraged to report workplace concerns to their direct or indirect managers in an environment that is free of distractions and secure in the knowledge that they will not be subject to reprisals when concerns are raised in good faith."

At another CRA, complaints related to analytical matters are required to be reported to the direct manager of the employee in question or designated senior officers in the firm who are responsible for the rating process or senior officers in the legal department. All other matters are required to be reported to the compliance or regulatory affairs department. This CRA also provides a hotline service for reporting that is available to all employees worldwide. The CRA pointed out that any employee who retaliates against another employee for any bona fide reports or assistance in investigation of suspected misconduct would be subject to disciplinary action that may lead to termination.

A third CRA noted that its employees are required to promptly report to their immediate managers, department heads, or the chief compliance officer any known or suspected contraventions of laws and regulations, organizational policies and procedures or the firm's code of conduct. To facilitate such reporting, all management and staff desktops have a *report* icon. This firm's policies encourage reporting of misconduct to immediate managers. However, in situations where employees believe that it would be inappropriate to do so, or that their immediate manager has mishandled the concern, they are encouraged to escalate the matter to a more senior manager in their business line, or to the chief compliance officer or, where appropriate, to the board of directors, based on the severity of the violation and the potential adverse impact on the reputation of the firm.

Another CRA has established a committee responsible for investigating any reports of illegal or unethical behavior. The committee works under the authority and supervision of the firm's chief compliance officer. Employees are told to report any questionable behavior to this committee. To discharge its function, the committee may engage external parties to carry out an investigation and may seek legal advice from outside law firms. After conducting its investigation, the committee may decide that there is no merit in the case or may recommend appropriate actions to be taken. The committee will notify the informant of its decisions as soon as possible. Where necessary, depending on the nature of the violations, the committee may bring the matter to the attention of the board of directors. To protect employees who make the report or cooperate with any related investigation, the identity of such employees is kept confidential. In the event that any such employee comes under any retaliation, the employee may report the matter to the committee, which will take "necessary measures" if it determines that there is sufficient basis in the allegations. The CRA also noted that if any rating analyst believes that "he or she suffered work-related disadvantages due to his or her statements [made] at the Rating Committee or the assertion of his or her judgment regarding the [credit rating business]", the analyst may request the committee to convene a meeting to hear his or her case.

Three other CRAs require employees to report issues to the chief compliance officer. For example, employees of one of the CRAs are expected to report questionable activities to the chief compliance officer, who is responsible for assessing the merits of the situation and, if warranted, taking appropriate action in accordance with the firm's policies and procedures as well as relevant laws and regulations. Another CRA requires the compliance officer, in his annual report on compliance matters to the general manager of the firm, to document any such reports of concerns without disclosing the identity of the informants. However, the firm pointed to difficulties in preserving the confidentiality of the informant's identity as the firm has a small number of employees who work in a tightly knit environment.

#### 3.4.4 Staff ethics and integrity

Most CRAs have implemented code provisions in relation to dealing fairly and honestly with issuers, investors, other market participants and the public. One CRA explained how this requirement is partially addressed by procedures, such as the complaint process, that allow outside parties to provide feedback. Based on public feedback, the firm can gauge the effectiveness of its implementation of the code requirement. At another CRA, the compliance department conducts email surveillance to detect disclosure of confidential information and other violations.

In terms of hiring practices, to avoid employing individuals with demonstrably compromised integrity, one CRA indicated that the firm conducts background checks on prospective employees. These checks include a criminal record search if this is legally permissible in the countries in which the employees are hired. For hiring in the United States, these checks, which include a criminal record search, education verification and prior employment search, are conducted via a third party vendor.

#### 3.4.5 No "guarantee" of ratings

Many of the CRAs have in their code of conduct general prohibitions against giving any assurance or guarantee of a rating prior to going through the firm's rating determination process. For those agencies that provide ratings for structured finance products, the general

prohibition does not preclude the agencies from developing prospective assessments used in structured finance transactions. One CRA also noted that the prohibition does not prevent the firm from providing rating or credit assessments that are based on "hypothetical scenarios and/or limited information," which the CRA does not regard as credit ratings.

One CRA explained that the firm provides a service where it assesses the concept of a potential structure and gives an initial view whether the structure concept is "strong" or "weak." The assessment is based solely on information regarding the structure of the transaction provided by the client, and the firm does not apply the usual rating procedure (e.g., a due diligence visit, micro and macroeconomics analysis) in the assessment exercise. The CRA stated that it makes it clear to the client that the rating of the concept of the structure is only an indication and should not be disclosed to any third party.

#### 3.4.6 Recordkeeping

Most of the CRAs responding to the questionnaire and/or commenting on the Consultation Report have recordkeeping policies.<sup>27</sup> One CRA's recordkeeping policy provides detailed lists of documents that must be retained, their respective retention periods, and the recordkeeping responsibilities of analysts and other employees. The employees are expected to be familiar with the policy and are required to certify their compliance with the policy on an annual basis. The policy also specifically provides that lead analysts have the duty to keep and maintain records of all credit-relevant documents (including emails and documents that were used as part of the credit analysis) relating to an issuer or obligation. These records are kept in electronic format within the firm's document management systems. generates bi-monthly status reports that identify record keeping delinquencies, which are sent to the analysts and their managers. If delinquencies persist for longer than 90 days, the compliance department is notified. Based on the bi-monthly reports, the compliance department produces monthly reports on the number of delinquencies in the filing of records and the number of delinquencies that were rectified in the same period. The monthly statistics generated by the compliance department enable the firm to assess the level of compliance of its recordkeeping policy. In addition, internal audits are also performed periodically at the CRA to assess compliance.

Another CRA retains all records of rating assessments in physical and/or digital form for at least three years after the termination of the service contract with its clients. The firm has an internal and an off-site backup for all digital records. In terms of handling confidential information, this CRA requires employees to sign a confidentiality agreement. In addition, the firm also installs in all ratings reports a "confidential code" to restrict and track access to the reports. Only users with an exclusive identification code may access the reports.

A third CRA keeps both physical and electronic files of all data used in the analysis process. The form in which these files are kept largely depends on the form in which clients provided the files. The firm also keeps records of committee meetings that will be made available to the analysts involved throughout the lifetime of an obligation and will be retained for two years after the obligation is fully repaid, after which only data "relating to meetings and committees" will be kept and stored in CD media.

\_

The discussion on recordkeeping in this section is in relation to the firm's policies and procedures in keeping and maintaining an audit trail of its rating process, while the discussion in Chapter 4 describes how CRAs use recordkeeping as a tool for identifying and recording the existence of actual or potential conflicts of interest.

### **Chapter 4** Management of Conflicts of Interest Discussion

#### 4.1 Managing firm-level conflicts

CRAs were asked to describe the procedures they have established to manage firm-level conflicts. Specifically, each firm was asked to describe whether and how its procedures:

- Seek to ensure that internal records that support its credit opinions are maintained for a reasonable period of time or in accordance with applicable law (Code 1.5);
- Seek to ensure that the credit rating a CRA assigns to an issuer or security is not affected by the existence of or potential for a business relationship between the CRA (or its affiliates) and the issuer (or its affiliates) or any other party, or the non-existence of such a relationship (Code 2.4);
- Seek to ensure separation, operationally and legally, of the credit rating business and credit rating analysts from any other businesses, including consulting businesses that may present a conflict of interest (Code 2.5);
- Seek to ensure that ancillary business operations that do not necessarily present conflicts of interest with the rating business have in place procedures and mechanisms designed to minimize the likelihood that conflicts of interest will arise (Code 2.5);
- Define what it considers, and does not consider, to be an ancillary business and why (Code 2.5);
- Seek to identify and eliminate, or manage and disclose, as appropriate, any actual or potential conflicts of interest that may influence its opinions and analysis or the judgment and analysis of the individuals it employs who have an influence on ratings decisions (Code 2.6);
- Require the firm to disclose its conflict avoidance and management measures (Code 2.6);
- Structure the reporting lines for its staff to eliminate or effectively manage actual and potential conflicts of interest (Code 2.11);
- Prohibit employees who are directly involved in the rating process from initiating, or participating in, discussions regarding fees or payments with any entity it rates (Code 2.12); and
- Prohibit an employee from participating in or otherwise influencing the determination of the rating of any particular entity or obligation if the employee has a financial interest in the rated entity or obligation (Code 2.13).

#### 4.1.1 Rating committees and reporting lines

One of the primary controls identified by the CRAs for addressing conflicts of interest is the rating committee process. Several CRAs also identified reporting lines as a measure to address conflicts. More specifically, they view reporting lines as a means of helping to ensure that management is made aware of any conflicts and how they are being managed. They noted that clearly delineated reporting lines can facilitate the separation of the business and analysis functions within a CRA.

With respect to rating committees, most of the CRAs responding to the questionnaire and the Consultation Report indicated that they require that credit ratings be determined by a committee and not by individual analysts. One respondent to the Consultation Report goes a step further, in that it sometimes utilizes an external rating committee consisting of a majority of independent members who are senior professionals with diverse backgrounds.

Several firms noted that they required ratings committee chairs to begin the committee process by inquiring whether any of the committee members has a conflict of interest with regard to the determination of the credit rating. A prospective rating committee member is required to refrain from participating in the committee if he or she has a conflict of interest. In at least one case, a declaration of the conflict appears on all documents related to the rating, and the conflicted individual is barred from accessing the relevant case files and rating reports. Firms also indicated that any potential conflicts identified through this process are subject to monitoring on an ongoing basis, and one firm specifically noted that if a conflict develops during the rating process, the analyst is replaced. Several CRAs noted that the requirement of a majority vote of the rating committee for a credit rating action to be taken serves to limit the influence of any one individual. Several firms also indicated that new analytical staff is not permitted to participate in the rating committee convened to determine a credit rating for an issuer or obligor if they were employed by the issuer or obligor during the past 12 months.

Most of the CRAs responding to the questionnaire and the Consultation Report identified specific reporting lines structured to address actual or potential conflicts of interest. For example, at one CRA, the chief credit officer, who is responsible for the oversight of the firm's overall credit policy structure, reports directly to the CRA's chief executive officer, president, and, on a quarterly basis, board of directors. One CRA cited the example of assigning a chairperson for each rating committee, while another noted that it had a risk manager who is solely responsible for coordinating analyst teams and is ultimately responsible for all ratings recommendations. One firm noted that the individual who is responsible for issuing all contracts and invoices works in an area physically separated from the firm's analysts and reports directly to the general manager of the firm. Finally, one firm explained that it created a director position tasked with overseeing compliance with applicable regulations, the firm's code of conduct, and its conduct policies by all employees, board members, and shareholders of the firm. In particular, the director is assigned the task of discussing and analyzing all potential employee conflicts of interest.

These internal controls are designed to address employee conflicts, as identified in section 4.2 of this report, and organizational conflicts. Organizational conflicts can arise if a CRA owns securities in the rated entity or its related third parties. Another example of an organizational conflict is identified in the IOSCO CRA Code, which requires a CRA to disclose if it receives 10% or more of its annual revenue from a single issuer, originator, arranger, client or

subscriber (including any affiliates thereof). Similarly, a U.S. regulation – Rule 17g-5(1) (17 C.F.R. § 240.17g-5(1)) – prohibits a CRA from issuing or maintaining a credit rating solicited by a person that provided the CRA with at least 10% of the CRA's total net revenue for the most recently ended fiscal year (although exemptive relief has been granted in certain cases).

#### 4.1.2 Corporate and business structures

The majority of CRAs responding to the questionnaire and the Consultation Report cited the separation of their business and analytical functions as a key element of their conflict management policies and procedures. The firms reported that they effect such separations through a variety of mechanisms. For example, several CRAs noted that they issued ratings through a subsidiary designed exclusively for that purpose in order to segregate the credit analysis business from other companies operating under the same holding company. Multiple firms use electronic firewalls, separate servers and separate data storage to prevent analysts from participating in commercial activities. Two firms noted that they physically separate their rating business from the rest of their businesses, while another firm stated that its small size does not allow it to physically separate business and analytical staff.

Several CRAs noted that they require segregation of analytical personnel from all commercial activities. For example, one CRA explained that all analytical personnel and staff involved in credit rating activities are prohibited from initiating, arranging, negotiating or participating in discussions regarding fees or payments for ratings. Instead, the firm requires that non-analytical personnel, who are not directly involved in credit rating activities, conduct all aspects of the fee and payment process. Another CRA noted that ratings analysts are prohibited from attending any portions of meetings or events in which commercial activities or sales activities are discussed.

One firm noted that its independent credit policy function operates independently of the rating function and is charged with promoting consistency, quality and transparency in rating practices globally and across diverse sectors and regions in order to ensure that decisions taken on methodological or ratings performance issues are made independently of any non-rating business objectives. One CRA noted that it has a specific committee tasked with considering conflicts of interests, while another CRA responded that all conflict of interest issues are discussed and analyzed by its administrative and human resources department and the president of the firm. The firm explained that while a potential conflict of interest is being evaluated, the affected individual is not permitted to participate in the rating or analysis process for the issuer and/or offering that is the subject of the potential conflict. In addition, at this firm, the administrative and human resources department is responsible for handling and collecting fees and charges, thus ensuring that this process remains independent from the departments responsible for credit analyses and ratings.

#### 4.1.3 Recordkeeping

CRAs reported that the records they retained to support their credit opinions generally include all rating reports issued by the firm, the individual ratings history of all rated issuers, and all materials, including electronic data and physical files, used in the preparation of rating reports. Firms indicated that they maintained this information in databases that would support a systematic comparison of the ratings actions taken by the CRA by asset and issuer type, including initial ratings and all downgrades and upgrades. More specifically, firms explained that their retained records could include minutes of meetings of ratings committees,

as well as records of formal presentations to ratings committees, sensitivity and stress tests, scenarios, individual statements from committee members confirming that there were no conflicts of interest for a given rating, and any reports from the firm's compliance function. One firm also conducts regular and systemic email reviews.

One firm described its mechanisms for identifying and recording the existence of actual and potential conflicts of interest, which it applies prior to beginning the analytical process, at the outset of a rating committee's work, and, where appropriate, when an analyst leaves the firm. The firm noted that all responses to queries about potential conflicts received by the firm are recorded and retained. This firm also noted that it retains conflicts certification questionnaires that ratings personnel are periodically required to complete, along with an annual certification that the employee has read the firm's code of conduct and is in compliance with it. Potential conflicts identified in an employee's annual certification questionnaire are referred to the employee's manager for follow up, and an internal department retains a record of the findings. Another firm requires the rating committee's chair to inquire about potential conflicts at the beginning of the rating process, and to document the inquiry, responses, and any action taken.

Most respondents indicated that they had implemented a system to record conflicts of interest. One firm maintains a database of actual or potential conflicts of interest, and then uses the database to help identify members to participate on a new rating committee. In addition, U.S. CRAs are required to disclose certain conflicts in annual regulatory filings (e.g., Form NRSRO), so these regulatory filings can serve as an indirect recordkeeping mechanism.

#### 4.1.4 Disclosure

All of the CRAs responding to the questionnaire and the Consultation Report indicated that they generally make disclosures about potential conflicts of interest through their public websites. However, one firm indicated that it also discloses the details of conflicts in rating reports and all related publications. Among other things, this transparency can provide users of credit ratings with information to analyze the potential for conflicts to influence credit rating decisions.

The information CRAs indicated they disclosed on their websites included:

- The affiliation of directors with issuers and all known holders of 5% or more of the firm's outstanding stock who have been rated by the firm;
- Information about whether a firm is paid by issuers, underwriters, obligors or investors to determine a rating, or when the firm is paid for services in addition to determining credit ratings;
- Information on ratings, changes to ratings, and withdrawal of ratings, including the name of the issuer, the offering code, the type of offering, term, amount authorized, and date of the initial rating, including the justification for the act; and
- Other disclosures required by law.

#### 4.2 Managing employee-level conflicts

CRAs were asked to describe the procedures and mechanisms they have established to manage employee-level conflicts. Specifically, each respondent was asked to describe whether and how its procedures:

- Prohibit analysts from making proposals or recommendations regarding the design of structured finance products that the CRA rates (Code 1.14-1);
- Seek to ensure that the credit rating the CRA assigns to an issuer or security is not affected by the existence of or potential for a business relationship between the CRA (or its affiliates) and the issuer (or its affiliates) or any other party, or the non-existence of such a relationship (Code 2.4);
- Seek to identify and eliminate, or manage and disclose, as appropriate, any actual or potential conflicts of interest that may influence the opinions and analysis it makes or the judgment and analysis of the individuals that it employs who have an influence on ratings decisions (Code 2.6);
- Require the CRA to disclose its conflict avoidance and management measures (Code 2.6);
- Prohibit the CRA and its employees from engaging in any securities or derivatives trading presenting conflicts of interest with the CRA's rating activities (Code 2.9);
- Seek to ensure that reporting lines for CRA employees and their compensation arrangements are structured to eliminate or effectively manage actual and potential conflicts of interest and state that a CRA analyst will not be compensated or evaluated on the basis of the amount of revenue that the CRA derives from issuers that the analyst rates or with which the analyst regularly interacts (Code 2.11);
- Prohibit employees who are directly involved in the rating process from initiating, or participating in, discussions regarding fees or payments with any entity the CRA rates (Code 2.12);
- Prohibit an employee from participating in or otherwise influencing the determination of the rating of any particular entity or obligation if the employee has a financial interest in the rated entity or obligation, has had a recent employment or other significant business relationship with the rated entity, or has or had any other relationship with the rated entity or any related entity thereof that may cause or may be perceived as causing a conflict of interest (Code 2.13);
- Prohibit the CRA's analysts and anyone involved in the rating process (or their spouses, partners, or minor children) from buying, selling, or engaging in any transaction in any security or derivative based on a security issued, guaranteed, or otherwise supported by any entity within such analyst's area of primary analytical responsibility, other than holdings in diversified collective investment schemes (Code 2.14);

- Prohibit CRA employees from soliciting money, gifts or favors from anyone with whom the CRA does business as well as accepting gifts offered in the form of cash or any gifts exceeding a minimal monetary value (Code 2.15); and
- Require that any CRA analyst who becomes involved in any personal relationship that creates the potential for any real or apparent conflict of interest (including, for example, any personal relationship with an employee of a rated entity or agent of such entity within his or her area of analytic responsibility) disclose such relationship to the appropriate manager or officer of the CRA, as determined by the CRA's compliance policies (Code 2.16).

#### **4.2.1** Compensation setting structures

Although the surveyed CRAs employ a variety of structures for determining firm and employee compensation, all of the firms stated that they seek to ensure that compensation issues do not affect ratings decisions. Each of the CRAs indicated that analyst compensation is not based on the amount of revenue derived from issuers rated by the analyst. Instead, analyst performance is assessed based on qualitative factors. The specific methods cited by firms as their means for determining analyst compensation in a manner designed to manage or eliminate conflicts of interest include:

- Linking cash bonuses and, for higher-level employees, equity awards to individual analyst performance;
- Using incentive compensation plans for employees in analytical and control roles that are different from those used for employees in commercial roles and general management roles;
- Basing compensation on factors such as analytical competence and analytical thinking;
- Basing compensation on a defined salary formula tied to the volume of work done within a specified timeframe; and
- Paying fixed salaries to analysts.

One firm stated that its Board of Directors, which includes independent directors, reviews the compensation and promotion policies for analytical and compliance staff.

Another CRA provided a detailed explanation of the structures it has established to determine compensation levels in a manner designed to address potential conflicts. Specifically, the firm has established a governance and compensation committee, whose responsibilities include, among other things, overseeing the firm's overall compensation structure and policies. The committee also is responsible for assessing whether these compensation structures establish appropriate incentives for management and employees. The firm explained that all members of this committee are outside (*i.e.*, non-management) directors who meet the independence criteria established by a major exchange for publicly traded companies. The committee conducts formal, annual reviews of the firm's overall compensation structure, policies and programs. The CRA has established a remuneration program for members of its credit policy group and compliance department that consists of an

annual base salary, performance-linked cash bonuses, performance-linked equity awards and personal benefits. Cash bonuses are based solely on an individual's performance and do not take into account the overall financial performance of the firm.

#### 4.2.2 Analyst selection

One CRA requires the lead analyst for the issuer or obligation in question to determine who is eligible to participate in the determination of a credit rating. At the beginning of the rating process, the lead analyst (or his or her designee) uses a web-based system to identify analysts for participation in the analytical process and/or a rating committee as well as the issuer and parties involved in the transaction that are the subject of the rating action. Each proposed participant then receives an email requiring him or her to acknowledge that:

- He or she has been asked to participate in the proposed rating action;
- Under relevant law and the firm's policies and procedures, employees subject to prohibited conflicts may not participate in or approve the determination of a credit rating;
- He or she is not subject to a prohibited conflict of interest; and
- If relevant circumstances change that give rise to a prohibited conflict of interest during the course of his or her participation in, or approval of, the rating action (or the monitoring of the rating), his or her participation will cease immediately.

The firm explained that if the parties involved in the transaction change, the lead analyst updates the self-certification process and each participant is then required to re-certify that he or she has no prohibited conflicts of interest.

Another firm stated that it recently introduced a procedure for confirming that analysts are eligible to participate in the rating process, and is in the process of designing a more automated process to confirm eligibility.

Yet another firm stated that although it does not utilize a web-based system to select rating committee members, it requires the manager for each new issue transaction to certify at the end of the rating process that (i) the analysts involved did not negotiate, discuss, or arrange the fee paid for the transaction, (ii) the firm and its associated persons did not make recommendations to the obligor, issuer, underwriter, or sponsor of the transaction about the corporate or legal structure, assets, liabilities, or activities of the applicable obligor or issuer of related securities, (iii) the rated obligor or issuer is not associated with the CRA, and (iv) none of the involved analysts are engaged in unfair, coercive, or abusive practices.

#### 4.2.3 Outside employment and other business relationships

The majority of CRAs responding to the questionnaire and the Consultation Report stated that they do not permit their analysts to have any outside employment, paid or unpaid, that would present a conflict of interest with regard to their ratings analysis. Several firms require that an analyst make an attestation that he or she does not have any outside employment.

On the other hand, one CRA permits outside employment; however, employees must obtain written authorization of the administration/human resources department and the firm's president in order to take on outside employment. A second CRA applies separate policies based on the employee's position in the company. Employees with a title of director or above are not permitted to hold any alternative employment, while lower-ranking employees may hold alternative employment, but only if the employment is not in the financial services industry or a related field, and provided that the employee obtains prior written approval from his or her managing director.

Some CRAs reported that they extend this prohibition to apply to the employment of relatives as well as to past employment. One firm, for example, stated that an analyst is not permitted to participate in or otherwise influence the determination of a rating for any particular issuer or issuance if the analyst has an immediate family member that currently works for the rated entity or has or had, within the six months immediately preceding the date of the meeting of the rating committee, any other relationship with the rated entity or any related entity thereof that may cause or may be perceived as causing a conflict of interest. Another firm stated that it forbids an analyst from working on the rating of an issuer if the analyst or a direct relation has or has had any business relationship with that issuer in the past five years. Similarly, one firm stated that it may conduct a look-back review if an employee leaves the CRA to work for a rated entity or one of its affiliates.

One CRA explained that all employees, board members, and shareholders are obliged to reveal any relationship that may create a potential conflict of interest in relation to the issuers being rated, including certain employment relationships, both personal and familial. The firm stated that it also required individuals to notify the administration and human resources department and the firm's president, in writing, of any potential conflict of interest, detailing the reason for and timing of the possible conflict. Another firm stated more broadly that it requires analysts to disclose "any personal relationship that creates the potential for any real or apparent conflict of interest" to "an appropriate manager."

#### 4.2.4 Designing securities

Several CRAs stated that they prohibit their analysts from making proposals or recommendations regarding the design of structured finance products that the firm rates. One firm explained that it prohibits its employees from making any recommendation to an issuer if the firm issues, reasonably anticipates issuing, or maintains a credit rating with respect to the issuer. Another firm noted its policy not to issue or maintain a credit rating with respect to an issuer or any security issued, underwritten, or sponsored by an issuer where a firm employee made any recommendation to the issuer. The firm noted that it will withdraw an existing credit rating if it learns that a recommendation was made to the issuer by an employee in connection with a credit rating. The CRA explained, however, that in assessing the credit risk of a structured finance transaction, analysts may hold a series of discussions with the issuer or its agents in order to understand and incorporate into their analysis the particular facts and features of the structured finance transaction and any modifications proposed by the issuer or its agents and to explain to the issuer and its agents the credit rating implications of the firm's criteria and methodologies as applied to the issuer's proposed facts and features.

#### 4.2.5 Trading securities and owning investments

All CRAs responding to the questionnaire and the Consultation Report have established policies and procedures with respect to owning and trading securities. Generally, these policies and procedures prohibit analysts from owning and trading certain securities and impose requirements for owning and trading other securities. In terms of prohibitions, one CRA, for example, generally prohibits analysts and others involved in the rating process (or any member of their immediate family) from owning, buying or selling, or engaging in any transaction involving a security issued, guaranteed, or otherwise supported by any entity within such analyst's area of primary analytical responsibility. A second CRA, for example, prohibits all employees and their family members from engaging in any transaction of a security while in possession of material non-public information relating to the rated issuer of the security or to the security itself. Another CRA prohibits employees and their immediate family members from having direct ownership of securities issued by any organization that is currently rated by the firm or is affiliated with an organization rated by the firm. This prohibition continues to apply for three months following the discontinuation of a rating, with the exception of certain listed securities.

One CRA stated more generally that it prohibits employees from engaging in any securities trading presenting actual conflicts of interest with the firm's rating activities, while another stated that certain high-ranking employees are subject to heightened securities holding and trading restrictions. Another firm acknowledged that it recognizes an exemption for employees without access to the firm's email system, applications, shared files, and computers, such as mailroom personnel, drivers, and cafeteria personnel.

With respect to non-prohibited securities transactions, several CRAs require employees to report or seek pre-approval for such transactions, although at least one firm identified narrowly defined exceptions from the pre-clearing requirement (e.g., for investments in mutual funds). Several CRAs require all "covered" employees to disclose their securities holdings and trades, as well as those of their family members. One CRA specified that its employees provide these disclosures using a third party electronic reporting and process management system. Another CRA has established specific "securities disclosure profiles" that rank all employees with respect to general and specific influence and access to material non-public information. This profile identifies an employee's level of access and influence and extent of restrictions by practice area, business or sector.

One firm explained its policy with regard to private investments held prior to becoming employed by the firm that could create a conflict of interest. An employee is prohibited from selling such an investment and must notify the administration and human resources department and the firm's president of the investment. The employee also is prohibited from participating in the credit quality evaluation process for the relevant issuer or offering. Further, any long-term loans or investments obtained by an employee prior to a rating process and that are related to any issuer or offering in which the employee is involved must be reported in writing to the administration and human resources department and to the firm's president. The employee must disclose, as applicable, the type of loan or investment, the term, loan rate, and also the contract date. The firm notes that it prohibits all employees from trading in derivative instruments.

#### 4.2.6 Gifts

Most of the surveyed CRAs reported that they prohibit their employees from soliciting money, gifts, or favors from anyone with whom the firm does business. These firms generally prohibit analysts from accepting gifts offered in the form of cash and any other gifts exceeding a minimal monetary value. Two CRAs explained that they impose an absolute prohibition on the acceptance of gifts for all employees in an analytical role. In contrast, one firm noted that it allows analysts to accept gifts after the rating has been released to the general public and the other requirements of the firm's gift policies have been met.

Many firms vary their restrictions depending on the employee's role. For example, one firm prohibits employees in analytical or control roles from accepting any entertainment from business contacts (including entertainment at conferences), but applies a less restrictive rule to other employees, allowing them to accept entertainment that is not excessive or extravagant and has a legitimate business purpose. Another firm applies a more liberal policy to employees not directly involved in credit rating activities, allowing them to receive gifts, but only within the scope of social convention and business customs and only to the extent necessary. That said, the firm requires employees in all departments to report and seek approval for gifts, meals, or entertainment in excess of approximately \$40 US.

Another firm described its gift restrictions in detail, and like many other CRAs, distinguished between analysts and other employees. Non-analysts may not solicit or encourage business contacts to offer a gift, but if the employee is an analyst, he or she is also prohibited from soliciting money, favors, services, or entertainment from a third party with which the firm has a business relationship relating to credit rating activities (and the same requirement applies to persons closely related to the analyst, such as spouses and dependent children). employees are barred from receiving (i) cash or cash equivalents (including gift certificates), (ii) gifts or favors where there is any reason to believe it is an attempt to influence the individual's work, and (iii) gifts that are extravagant, lavish, or that exceed local social or business custom. Subject to these limitations and applicable law, non-analysts may receive customary and reasonable meals and entertainment at which the business contact is present, as well as gifts that are worth \$50 US or less (up to \$100 US per year), while analysts and closely related persons can only receive incidental items (including light meals) from business contacts worth \$25 US or less, and even then, the gifts, favors, or entertainment may not be received from third parties with whom the firm has a business relationship relating to credit rating activities.

One firm noted that in the event any person with which the firm has business dealings solicits from or offers to the firm's personnel, whether explicitly or implicitly, any "remuneration, good, donation, gift, gratification, or entertainment," the firm's personnel must report this immediately to the firm's administration and human resources department as well as to its president. Employees also must detail the characteristics of the items in question, the date delivered, and the type of relationship with the company or issuer. If the solicitation or offer is determined to present a conflict of interest, a request will be made, in writing, to terminate the business relationship with the person in question, informing the person of the cause and the creation of the conflict of interest that violates the ethical standards of the firm. With regard to remuneration, goods, donations, gifts, gratifications, or entertainment that are not given with such intention, the firm explained, company management, technical personnel, and other employees may accept these items provided they are not made in cash and their value does not exceed approximately \$70 US over a twelve month period.

#### **Chapter 5 Conclusion**

The IOSCO CRA Code sets the minimum standard to ensure a common baseline of self-governance requirements across CRAs. In this regard, the IOSCO CRA Code provisions are expressed as broad objective statements in recognition of CRAs' differing organizations, sizes, and business models, and the differing ways to achieve a particular outcome.

This report provides a survey of the internal controls and conflicts procedures adopted by a diverse range of CRAs. CRAs vary significantly in size, and this report indicates that this variation in size results in differences in the policies and procedures adopted by CRAs to ensure the quality and integrity of the rating process, and to manage conflicts of interest. Despite the differences in size, all CRAs surveyed or commenting on the Consultation Report have adopted some form of policies and procedures to provide internal controls and safeguard against conflicts of interest.

C6 believes it is not appropriate to draw conclusions about the operational efficacy of the CRAs' internal controls and conflict procedures not only because of the data limitations, but also because a particular control or procedure's effectiveness must be considered in the context of its application, and to determine its success, it is necessary to engage in a more holistic assessment. The efficacy of a control or procedure may hinge on a number of other factors such as leadership, resources, expertise, and technology. Further, a given CRA's culture will play a significant role in the success of its controls and procedures, as even well-designed internal controls and procedures may not achieve their intended effect if the firm's culture does not embrace compliance. Further, a practice that is reasonable or rational for one CRA may not necessarily be so for another. Ultimately, it is the responsibility of the senior management and the governing body of a CRA to ensure that it has adequate resources to produce high-quality ratings, the governance of its rating process is sound, and its key risk controls to safeguard the integrity of the rating process and for managing conflicts of interest are operationally effective.

This Final Report nonetheless is intended to serve as a resource to increase public understanding of the internal workings of CRAs, and to allow CRAs to compare their internal controls and procedures with those of their peers. Also, by shedding light on the processes and controls some CRAs utilize to ensure the integrity of the credit rating process and manage conflicts of interest, this report, in conjunction with disclosures that individual CRAs make about their controls and procedures, may help users of ratings draw their own conclusions about an individual CRA's controls and procedures and thereby help the users make informed decisions with respect to their reliance on credit ratings.

Finally, given that the IOSCO CRA Code was last reviewed in the aftermath of the global financial crisis in 2008, IOSCO has initiated another review of the IOSCO CRA Code to ensure that it stays relevant as the international standard for CRAs' self-governance, and this report will help inform that work.